
1

February 23, 2011
MINUTES:  THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS, Town of Hamden, held a Public Hearing and Regular 
Meeting on Thursday, February 17, 2011 at 7:00 p.m. in the 3rd Floor Conference Room, Hamden Government 
Center, 2750 Dixwell Avenue, Hamden, CT. and the following items were reviewed: 

Commissioners in attendance: Wayne Chorney, Acting Chair
Fran Nelson
Elaine Dove,  
Bill Reynolds
Andrew Houlding, sitting for Jeff Vita

Staff in attendance: Dan Kops, Assistant Town Planner
Holly Masi, Zoning Enforcement Officer
Stacy Shellard, Commission Clerk
Lisa Raccio, Stenographer

Mr. Chorney called the meeting to order at 7:05p.m., reviewed the agenda and meeting procedures, and the panel 
introduced themselves.

A.   Public Hearing

1) 10-6412   1670 Whitney Avenue, Requesting variances of the following: Section 638.1.b to permit a 50 
 percent outdoor seating area where it shall not exceed 20 percent of the indoor eating area.  

T- 3.5 Zone 
  Michael Migliaro, Applicant   

Mr. Ed Bruce, 191 Montowese Avenue, North Haven, representative for  Michael Migliaro, owner, addressed the 
Commission and reviewed the variance request.  He explained that the restaurant’s interior is approximately 800 
square feet in size, and that the proposed outdoor patio will measure approximately 900 square feet.  They will 
utilize 400 square feet of the patio which measures an area of 20 feet by 20 feet.  There will be one table that seats 
6 people and two tables that seat 4 people.  Mr. Bruce said that they have consulted with Mr. Fran Albis who is the 
Spring Glen Village District Consultant.  Mr. Albis had suggested that a 3 foot high black aluminum picket fence 
be placed so that it would delineate the outdoor eating area.  The outdoor eating area will be used seasonally.  

Mr. Chorney asked if liquor will be served to people sitting in the outdoor area and Mr. Bruce replied that they 
would if the approval was received from the State Liquor Control Commission.  Mr. Dan Kops, Assistant Town 
Planner stated that the new zoning regulations allow for liquor to be served outside if there is access from the 
outside patio area.  Mr. Chorney asked if the fencing being proposed will be temporary.  Mr. Bruce said that it will 
be a seasonal fence.  



2

Ms. Dove asked how many seats are available inside the restaurant and Mr. Bruce replied that they can seat 50-60 
people.  Ms. Dove asked if they could seat 25 people outside and Mr. Bruce replied that they could comfortably 
seat 14 people.  Ms. Dove asked why there would not be 25 seats outside.  Mr. Bruce said that they would need 
additional space to allow the staff to move around comfortably when serving the patrons.  Mr. Kops explained that 
there is an easement for the traffic control structure which limits the area available outside.  Ms. Dove asked if the 
applicant would use more tables than what is depicted on the plans and Mr. Bruce said no.  

Mr. Chorney asked what the amount of permitted seating was by the Fire Marshal.  Mr. Bruce said he did not have 
the exact figure but it was approximately 80 people.  

Mr. Reynolds asked what months would be considered seasonal use.  Mr. Bruce explained that it could possibly be 
April to October but it would depend on the weather.  Mr. Chorney asked if the patio could be used April 1st 

through October 1st.  Mr. Bruce said that it would probably be used from mid-May to early September.  Mr. 
Holding asked if outdoor heaters will be used and Mr. Bruce said no.  Ms. Dove asked if the variance was to be 
approved could the Commission restrict the months allowed.  Mr. Kops explained that zoning regulations only 
restrict outdoor use to six months.  Ms. Masi said that it is hard to restrict which months the outdoor area will be 
used because use will depend on the weather.  

Mr. Chorney asked for comments in favor of the application:

Ms. Christine Esposito, 1742 Whitney Avenue, addressed the Commission and stated that the use of the outdoor 
patio would be a great addition to the neighborhood.  

Mr. Chorney asked for comments against the application and there was none.  

Mr. Chorney closed the Public Hearing.  

2)  11-6413   1378 Shepard Avenue, Requesting a variance of the following: Section 520.8.1.b to permit 
   natural resource removal, regrading and filling of  1,440 of cubic yards where a maximum of 
 1,000 cubic yards is allowed, exclusive of the earth work falling within the area delineated by 
 the footprint of an approved structure.  R-3 Zone

  John & Virginia Rossotto, Jr., Applicants 

3)  11-6414   1380 Shepard Avenue, Requesting a variance of the following: Section 520.8.1.b to permit natural 
               resource removal, regrading and filling of 1,680 of cubic yards where a maximum of 1,000 cubic yards 

 is allowed, exclusive of the earth work falling within the area delineated by the footprint of an 
 approved structure.  R-3 Zone
 John & Virginia Rossotto, Jr., Applicants 

Mr. Chorney explained that Application 11-6413 and 11-6414 would be heard together.  

Mr. Nelson stated that he is friends with Mr. Rossotto but this would not impede his ability to make an impartial 
decision regarding this application. 

Mr. Joe Porto, Attorney, addressed the Commission and reviewed the location of the properties and that Mr. John 
Rossotto has owned the properties continuously for 20 years.  He stated that in 2007 an approval was received for a 
lot line revision and it was recorded on the Town land records.  Mr. Porto said that an approval with conditions was 
received from the IWC for the construction of two single family homes.  He explained that the IWC scrutinized the 
proposed driveway and that the Town Engineer’s and the RWA’s comments were part of the approval.  The 
construction sequence approved requires that the driveway must be brought to almost finished grade and this would 
require the filling and removal of grade over 1,000 cubic yards for each lot.  Mr. Porto said there is a Special 
Permit & Site Plan Application pending for the earth work to be done.  



3

Mr. Richard Couch, Engineer, reviewed the proposed plans for each lot and he reviewed the Excavation/Filling/Re-
grading/Removing Estimate Quantities that had been submitted with the application.  He explained that the close 
proximity of the two driveways does not allow them to be constructed separately and the utilities will be placed 
between them.   

Mr. Houlding asked if the numbers stated on the chart are precise and Mr. Couch said yes.  Mr. Couch said that the 
numbers stated on the chart have been rounded to sensible numbers and surfaced with an auto cad and he reviewed 
how the auto cad calculates numbers.  

Ms. Dove asked if the material removed can be taken off site and then brought back and reused.  She asked if an 
application had been previously heard because work was done on the sites without a zoning permit.  Ms. Holly 
Masi, Zoning Enforcement Officer, explained that an enforcement action was started because there was activity on 
the properties without permits and development proposals.   

Ms. Dove asked what the hardship would be because excavation was done without a zoning permit and the 
neighbors are upset.  Mr. Nelson said that the hardship would be the topography of the properties.  Mr. Couch 
explained that the calculations on the chart were based on topography provided by Gordon Belides and also 
includes the existing topography.  He reviewed the current topography of the site.  

Mr. Houlding asked what was meant by the reuse of onsite activity.  Mr. Couch explained that if material is 
excavated and it is not reusable it would be taken out and stable material would be used.  

Mr. Chorney asked if stumps were removed from the property.   Mr. Couch reviewed with the Commission what 
was cleared and removed from the properties.  

Mr. Porto said that the IWC required the areas that were cleared to the rear of the property be re-vegetated  and that 
this work has been completed.  The Commission discussed the areas that were cleared.  Ms. Masi said that the 
disturbed areas were vegetation and not trees.  Mr. Couch said that the calculations were determined using Gordon 
Belides mappings which were pre-activity and Ms. Masi added that the map prepared was when the lot line 
revision was done.  Ms. Masi said that the excavation and grading had been done without a development plan.  

The Commission discussed with Mr. Couch the approval received from IWC and the location of the soils that need 
to be removed.   

Mr. Kops explained that the variances are needed because the zoning regulations have changed.  The regulations 
were changed to prevent people from mining on properties which would have houses placed on them in the future. 
Mr. Kops reviewed with the Commission the zoning regulations and stated that this application meets the intent of 
the zoning regulations and that the applicant is not excavating soil with the intent to sell it.  Mr. Couch said that if 
no work had been done prior to the proposed plan being submitted a variance would still be necessary.  

Ms. Dove asked if the lots were buildable prior to any materials being removed.  Ms. Masi said that they became 
legal lots when the lot line revision was approved in 2007.  Mr. Kops reviewed the zoning regulation for lots with 
slopes of 20 percent or more.  The Commission discussed with the Planning Staff the existing conditions and the 
proposed plans.  Mr. Chorney stated that the   comments from the Town Engineer and the RWA were included in 
the Commissioner's packets.  

Mr. Nelson asked if it was the intent of the applicant to start building the houses and Mr. Couch said not right 
away.  The Commission discussed the need for the driveways before any  activity occurs and reviewed with Mr. 
Couch the stormwater management plan for the driveways.  

Mr. Chorney asked for comments in favor of the application and there was none.  Mr. Chorney asked for comments 
against the application:



4

Ms. Eunice Hoffman, 180 White Drive, addressed the Commission and stated that she is the owner of the 
properties located at 1382 and 1390 Shepard Avenue.  She said that the zoning regulations are in place to avoid 
improper use of the land which can create safety concerns for current property owners and future owners of the 
property.   The residents of the Town put the trust in the ZBA to avoid future problems for the residents and their 
properties.  

Mr. Porto said that Ms. Hoffman’s concerns were appropriate for the previous application that was denied.  He 
stated that there were no adverse findings by the Police or Fire Department with regard to this application.  

Ms. Dove asked how the emergency vehicles will access the properties.  Mr. Couch said that it is the responsibility 
of the owners to maintain the driveways during bad weather to allow access by emergency vehicles.  

Mr. Holding asked if there would be retaining walls on the sides of the driveways.  Mr. Couch said that there are 
rock walls and the grade is not over four feet.  He reviewed with the Commission the location and grade of the 
walls.  

Mr. Reynolds asked about the drainage and water problems that have existed.  Mr. Couch said that the 
development plan to be presented to the Planning & Zoning Commission will address the drainage and grading 
plan.  He reviewed with the Commission the existing elevations.  

Mr. Chorney closed the Public Hearing.  

A. Regular Meeting

a. Discussion and voting on Public Hearing items.

10-6412

Mr. Nelson made the motion to approve Application 10-6412.  Mr. Reynolds seconded the motion.  Mr. Nelson 
stated that the hardship is the because the zoning regulation states that an outdoor patio is only permitted to be 20 
percent of the indoor eating area and the restaurant is small in size.  Mr. Nelson said that the SGVD Consultant had 
worked with the applicant and approved of the outdoor eating area.  Mr. Chorney said that a large concrete pad  
already exist in front of the establishment and the applicant would only need to place the fencing and tables.  
The motion was approved unanimously.   

11-6413, 11-6414

Ms. Dove made the motion to deny Applications 11-6413 and 11-6414.  There was no second to the motion.  The motion  
failed.  

Mr. Nelson made the motion to approve Applications 11-6413 and 11-6414.  Mr. Reynolds seconded the motion.  Mr. 
Nelson stated that the hardship is because the Applicant is in full obligation to the IWC.  IWC is asking that the driveway be  
completed before they disturb any further up the property.  Mr. Nelson also said that the comments from the Town Engineer  
and RWA also created an additional hardship because more fill would need to be removed than what is allowed.  

Mr. Nelson, Mr. Chorney, Mr. Reynolds and Mr. Houlding voted in favor of the motion.  Ms. Dove voted against the  
motion.  Ms. Dove said that the resident who spoke against the application had made some good points.  Ms. Dove explained 
that  she had a friend who had trouble with water  and sewage and that  she had to badger the town to get  help with the 
developer.  Ms. Dove feels that this site could have the same type of problems and that a future owner may not know what  
problems have existed or what was done to the site.  Mr. Chorney stated that the variance would need to be filed on the land  
records and a title search would show what was approved.  

The motion passed 4-1-0.  



5

b. Approve Minutes of January 20, 2011

Mr. Chorney stated that on page 4, the last sentence in the second paragraph should be removed.  The fourth 
paragraph on page four should be corrected to read “merge the properties and if it can be found”. 

Mr. Reynolds made the motion to approve the Minutes of January 20, 2011 as amended.  Mr. Nelson seconded  
the motion.  Mr. Chorney, Mr. Nelson, Ms. Dove and Mr. Reynolds approved the motion.  The motion passed.  
       

c. Old Business

The Commission discussed with Ms. Masi the violation notices issued to Mr. Rossotto for 1378 & 1380 Shepard 
Avenue.  Ms. Masi explained to the Commission that Mr. Rossotto has received an approval with conditions from 
IWC  and  that  he  has  a  Special  Permit  and  Site  Application  that  will  be  heard  by  the  Planning  &  Zoning  
Commission in March.    

d. New Business

There was none.

e. Adjournment

Mr. Nelson made a motion to adjourn.  The motion was seconded by Ms. Dove.  The motion passed  
unanimously.  
                                                               
The meeting adjourned  at 8:20 p.m.

Submitted by: ______________________________________________
Stacy Shellard, Commission Clerk


	A.   Public Hearing
	A. Regular Meeting

